FILED

SID. J. WHITE

OCT 8 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

INTRODUCTION

The appellant was the defendant and the appellee the prosecution, State of Florida, in the lower court. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R". All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by indictment with the crimes of First Degree Murder and Armed Burglary (R. 1).

The defendant proceeded to a jury trial wherein he was found guilty as charged (R. 66-67).

The jury then returned an Advisory Sentence recommending the death penalty by a vote of 9 to 3 (R. 92).

The trial court thereupon sentenced the defendant to Death (R. 108-117).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to the trial of this Cause, the trial court had a hearing on the defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements (R. 44). At that hearing:

Metro Officer Milton Hull testified that on March 30, 1989, he had participated in a drug surveillance during which the defendant was brought to his attention (R. 45). Officer Hull also came into contact with Terrace Isan and Lee Curgil (R. 46). Lee Curgil was found in possession of a .357 Magnum (R. 46).

On April 1, 1989, Officer Hull drove to where the defendant was sitting on the front porch of his (defendant's) grandmother's house (R. 48). Officer Hull "told him (defendant) that there was some homicide investigators that wanted some information, that he (defendant) may (have) knowledge of some murder that took place down south" (R. 48). Officer Hull told the defendant "if he was willing to go there, I would take him there, and everything, and then I would bring him back" (R. 48-49). The defendant said, "Okay" (R. 49). The defendant told his grandmother that "he was going to take care of something" (R. 49). The homicide detectives then responded to pick the defendant up (R. 49).

Detective Gregg Smith testified that detectives investigating the Lee Lawrence homicide had a meeting and "At that meeting,

certain names were categorized as potential witnesses, and other suspects in the case, and these were the people that we were supposed to locate and interview" (R. 56). The defendant was transported to the Team Police Office and then "turned over" to Detective Borrego (R. 59). The defendant was told that "We were investigating a homicide, and that we wish to speak to him concerning that investigation" (R. 61). The defendant didn't say that he didn't want to talk to him or that he (defendant) didn't want to go downtown (R. 61).

Officer Thomas Romagni testified that he was at the homicide office on April 1, 1989 (R. 63) and witnessed the defendant sign a Miranda Rights form (R. 64).

Detective Danny Borrego testified that on March 31, 1989, he received information that the defendant was involved in a drug sting arrest in which Lee Curgil was arrested with a weapon which was found to be used in the shooting of Lee Arthur Lawrence (R. 69). When he met the defendant, he told the defendant that he would be transporting him (defendant) to the homicide office (R. 71). At the homicide office, Detective Borrego advised the defendant of his Miranda Rights (R. 73, 76). After advising the defendant of his Miranda warning, Detective Borrego began to question the defendant about some of the homicides that he was investigating in South Dade (R. 76). The defendant gave a statement as to the three incidents (R. 81) and "agreed to go with

us on location, and point out the three different sights of the shootings, and specifically describe for us how they occurred" (R. 82). The defendant then made corrections on his recorded statement (R. 84). The defendant was arrested when he confessed to the killings (R. 87).

Detective Borrego testified that he "probably" had probable cause to charge the defendant "From the information we received from the witnesses in the Tequila Larkins case" (R. 93). Initially, the defendant denied any involvement in the shooting instances (R. 94). After the first 10 or 15 minutes of the interview, the defendant began to make admissions (R. 97).

The defendant testified at the motion hearing (R. 107).

When Officer Hull approached him:

He wanted to ask me some questions, and I asked him what was the question, what question it was, but he had some questions. He said he wanted to question me. I asked about what. He never said about what. He just said he wanted to question me, and he wanted to question me, and I said: For what? And he said to come here. He approached."

(R. 108)

and,

"Touched me on the shoulder, on the arm, told me to come with him, and to answer some questions. I said: No. But since he was there, I didn't feel I had nothing to hide. I came with him. He stopped me, and touched me on the shoulder.

(R. 109).

The defendant was not given a chance to call his grandmother or mother or anybody in his family (R. 109).

Detective Borrego told the defendant "that I was the one in these cases. Really, I was the one that was driving the car, and Rodney told them that I was driving the car, and I was the one who did it" (R. 111).

Detective Borrego told the defendant "If I would be cooperated with him, I would not get the electric chair" (R. 111).

and,

First, they asked me questions, and they were telling me that Rodney told him, and I said that Rodney didn't and punched me (R. 111).

and,

In the chest and arms.

Okay, after they did that, they say you still not going to tell us, I'm telling you, I'm not talking to you about this, and I got scared.

They said we got detectives at your mother's house, and that makes me real scared.

Q: Why?

A: That's the time when the police officers came and kicked in the house, the wrong house, and take her, she was asleep. I was in fear for my family.

(R. 112)

and,

Q: What else was the detective telling you?

A: Other than I could get the electric chair, if I don't cooperate with them, he was telling me, and he was telling me to be cooperative with us. Later they punched me, they hit me with their elbows, coming with their elbows, so I still would tell them that I didn't know about it. I guess what they wanted to hear was that, and they kept coming into the room and punching me.

(R. 112)

and,

Q: Did you tell him you wanted to speak to any of your family?

A: Yes.

Q: What did they tell you?

A: To wait until after what they were doing was over with.

Q: Did they ever tell you that your family tried to reach you?

A: No.

(R. 113)

After being taken to the crime scene and before signing the written statement, the defendant was sleepy and was sleeping.

(R. 114)

When Detective Borrego explained the Miranda form to him "it wasn't clear, whatever they were telling me" (R. 115).

The defendant signed the statement:

Yes, but I was still in fear that my family -- all I wanted to

do was sign the papers, and just talk to my family.

Q: You signed it when they told you to sign?

A: Yes.

I was scared because I still didn't know what had happened to my mother and two brothers. They had detectives at my house. I don't know what type of punishments they were going through. I don't know if they hurt my family.

(R. 115)

As to his physical maintenance, the defendant testified:

Q: How many hours had you been awake from the time they picked you up and booked you into the Dade County Jail?

A: Must have been 16 or 18 hours already out on the streets.

Q: Did he give you anything to eat or drink?

A: No.

(R. 116)

As to speaking to his family the defendant testified:

Q: When was the first opportunity you had to call your family?

A: When I got through signing their papers.

Q: Did they let you call your family from the station, or was this after you were booked?

A: They let me call them when I was there, when I was booked.

Q: Did you speak to your family?

A: That was about 11:00 o'clock in the morning.

They picked me up at 5:30 in the afternoon, and this was about

7:30, from 5:30 to 7:00 o'clock I was in their custody.

Q: That's when you learned your mother was very concerned about you?

A: Yes.

She had been calling, and they didn't tell her -- I don't know what they told her, and they never let me make contact, and I couldn't talk to her. They never told me that she was trying to contact me because I did want to talk to her.

(R. 117)

As to any possibility of the defendant leaving, he testified:

One time they told me that if I tried to run out of the homicide office they would shoot me, and that made me more scared.

(R. 125)

At the conclusion of the argument of both parties, the trial court ruled:

The Court: All right.

As to the motion, the motion to the confession, denied.

This was done at the homicide office. The Miranda Warning is sufficient. Nothing suggests a waiver of the constitutional rights.

(R. 135)

At the trial of this cause, during Voir Dire, the prosecution examined jurors as to their beliefs/feelings concerning the death penalty. During the questioning of Juror Williams:

Mr. Bagley: How about you Mrs. Williams.

Mrs. Williams: I prefer not.

Mr. Bagley: You prefer not to sit as a juror and make a recommendation for the imposition of the death penalty.

Is that what you are saying?

Mrs. Williams: Right.

Mr. Bagley: Is that based upon philosophical religious, or moral grounds?

Mrs. Williams: In the Bible it says, Thy shall not kill.

So I don't think I would want to go along with the program.

Mr. Bagley: So are you saying you are opposed to the imposition of the death penalty?

Mrs. Williams: Yes.

Mr. Bagley: It doesn't matter what type of case is presented as to aggravated and mitigating factors.

For example, if the State presented the aggravating factors that show this first degree murder is worse than other types of first degree murder cases you would not be able to consider that, and enlght of the mitigating factors impose the death penalty?

Mrs. Williams: It depends on how it goes.

Mr. Bagley: But what I am trying to understand is what you are saying, that you are imposed to the death penalty because the Bible says you shall not take a life.

I am giving is a synopsis.

That is what you are saying on one hand, but on the other hand, but I can listen to what the aggravating factors are as well as the mitigating factors and if I think the aggravating factors

out weigh the mitigating factors then I can recommend the death penalty?

Mrs. Williams: I didn't say that.

I prefer not.

Mr. Bagley: What I am trying to find out for certain -- I am not trying to put words in your mouth, I know you prefer not to, you may prefer not to be here, you may prefer to be at work or at home.

I think you said you were retired.

The question is, maybe you prefer to be somewhere else.

I am sure if you are selected as a juror based upon your oath you are going to judge the facts and apply the law given by His Honor and arrive at a lawful verdict.

What I need, even though you may prefer not to recommend the death penalty, would you be able to do so?

Mrs. Williams: No.

Mr. Bagley: You would not be?

Mrs. Williams: No.

(R. 503-504)

The next inquiry as to Mrs. Williams concerned his familiarity with firearms:

Mr. Bagley: Mrs. Williams. I believe you had your hand up. You own some guns?

Mrs. Williams: A riffle and a .357 magnum.

Mr. Bagley: Thank you.

(R. 525)

and,

Mrs. Williams, you have a license?

Mrs. Williams: Yes, sir.

(R. 526)

Mrs. Williams next came up when he was challenged for Cause at Jury Selection:

The next person I would have to move for cause is Mr. Williams, he clearly pointed out based upon religious grounds that the Bible says that one shall not take a persons life. There is no question in his mind no matter what the aggravating factors are.

The Court: How about that one?

Mr. Badini: I believe that he should say -- I think unfortunately the State has indicated when someone has said that specifically he will not under any circumstances follow the Courts instruction.

I think that is the person(s) opinion one way or the other and are not grounds for throwing people off, unless they said I am not voting one way or the other, I am voting this way. I am not or I am participating this way.

The Court: I think I tend to agree with Mr. Williams, he said he just did not want to participate in any discussion.

I will sustain that challenge for cause.

Anything else?

(R. 543)

At the trial of this Cause, the following testimony was presented:

Jury Briggs testified that on March 11, 1989 he was at the Sparkle City Laundromat washing clothes with his wife (R. 608). The victim, Tequila Larkins, locked the front door while he and his wife were still washing clothes (R. 610).

Then, a man came to the door and asked for change (R. 609-610). Ms. Larkins then got her keys (R. 610). Then the man barged in the door and "They started arguing and then started physically fighting (R. 612). The man "was hitting very hard in her face" (R. 612). Ms. Larkins fell (R. 613). Then, "she went down on the floor and he got on top of her" (R. 618). "At that point of time he pulled out a gun" (R. 619). "I heard three to four shots, simultaneously" (R. 619).

Mr. Briggs identified the defendant as the man he saw (R. 620).

Q: Why don't you look at the back of that photograph and see what exactly you wrote down and tell the members of the jury what you wrote down.

A: This guy that I am sure 80 percent was wearing a hat so that knocked out 20 percent.

Q: The 20 percent because he was wearing a hat knocked off 100 percent identification?

Are you sure today that was the person you saw in the Sparkle City Laundromat striking Sugar Mama and pull out a gun in which you heard shots?

A: Yes, sir.

(R. 623)

After the incident, Mr. Briggs was shown a photo lineup (R. 621). Mr. Briggs selected a photo (R. 622) being about 80% sure (R. 623). Briggs testified:

On cross-examination, Mr. Briggs testified that he had been shown the photographic lineup again, the week before trial (R. 637), by the State Attorney, without any police officers being present. Briggs testified "I seen them with the State Attorney to make sure that this was the right person" (R. 637).

Mr. Briggs again acknowledged that when he initially viewed the photo lineup on March 11, 1989, he was 80% sure that the photograph number 3 (defendant) was "similar to the man who you thought committed the murder" (R. 638-639).

On the Redirect examination, the prosecution again elicited that Mr. Briggs had come to the prosecutor's office" last week (R. 639), had viewed the photo lineup (R. 640), and had been asked "To pick out the guy that I think was in the Laundromat at that time" (R. 640). Briggs again testified that he did "pick out the person (he) believe(d) was the person who shot Sugar Mama (Larkins)" (R. 640). Briggs testified that no one showed him that photo lineup between March, 1989 and when he came to the prosecutor's office, "over two and a half years later" (R. 640).

Following Mr. Brigg's testimony, the parties went sidebar:

Mr. Badini: Your Honor, at this time the defense is going to move for mistrial due to Mr. Briggs' testimony throughout this. He never made a positive identification of the defendant, he was only approximately 80 percent sure.

The prosecutor intervened in this case with an out of Court identification of the defendant.

This is a violation of the Richardson Rules. He never revealed that to the defense, the only thing the defense knew was that there was one showing of these photographs on April 1, 1989, and that he indicated he was approximately 80 percent sure, which was brought out by the testimony.

We now find out about a week ago the prosecutor stepped out of the boundaries and began an investigation.

The Court: Ladies and gentlemen, we have some matters to discuss outside your presence. I would ask you to step inside the jury room, which is located right behind you.

[Thereupon, the following proceedings were had outside the hearing of the jury.]

The Court: We will have a Richardson Hearing. You are talking about the second showing?

Mr. Badini: Yes, on April first, there was detective Rembly and Detective Borrego that showed a series of photographs to the witness, and at that time he said photograph number three was similar to the person he thought committed the homicide, he wasn't sure.

The expression 80 percent had been used.

He mentioned there was a difference in facial hair, and he wasn't positive. He had not made a positive identification.

The detective deposition, the detective stated clearly that he did not make a positive identification of this man.

Of course he can say now that that is the man now, but two and a half years ago we had a secondary identification.

Now, that has to be disclosed to the defense.

Any time there is an identification of the defendant made out of Court it really opens up a whole series of questions because the prosecutor now becomes an investigator.

The prosecutor in trying to prepare his case is now refreshing somebody's memory that was already in evidence because he identified him once before, et cetera.

Just going to his testimony, he is now re-showing him the line-up and his first expression was he told me that these were the photographs.

He has a duty to disclose that.

The Court: Your contention is that up until the second showing the best you are aware of was the witness could only make an 80 percent---

Mr. Badini: Now, we have a positive identification. He failed to retell that to me. This is the second course. We have had the prosecutor engaging themselves in out of Court identification procedure, and this opens up a tremendous problem because we did not have previously a positive I.D.

A lot of times you have a previous positive I.D., you are saying, well, you already positively identified him. So I haven't done anything wrong. They have a problem.

If I had known about this I would have taken his deposition again, because I am sitting here saying there is always a

possibility he is going to, but I have an 80 percent man here. Now I don't have an 80 percent man, now I have two out of Court identifications.

The first one, and now the second one, that is positive.

The Court: Let me hear from the State.

Mr. Bagley: Judge, his testimony is still consistent.

First of all, showing him this photographic line-up is not different then me showing him a copy of a sworn statement and his deposition that he gave.

The Court: There is no question in my mind that you can go over an individuals testimony.

Mr. Bagley: That is exactly what I did, I showed him this, see if you recognize, see if he recognized his writing on the back. That is all.

Now there is a discovery violation?

I submit now, first of all, there is a case, Bush v. State, I can get the case, it is a Florida Supreme Court case which states that this is not a discovery violation.

What you have is an issue for counsel to express during cross examination, and this is what this witness did testify to, consistent to what he said in the depo, to what he said in the sworn statement.

The Court: Last week, whatever it was that you remember testifying to, look at the photographs and say, oh wait a minute, before I was only 80 percent, but now I am a hundred percent sure.

Mr. Bagley: No, he stuck to the same testimony he gave.

The writing on the back of State Exhibit No. 4 when he testified he said I was 80 percent sure, 20 percent is knocked off because he was wearing a hat. He didn't say anything different in Court today other than looking at the defendant and saying now that that is the guy.

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Badini: Judge, it is not consistent, the testimony he gave to the officers was not because he is wearing the hat, that is how he got his 20 percent, because in his testimony to the officer he now says that there was a difference in the length of the hair, the head hair of the particular man.

He found a convenient way to explain the 20 percent.

I am troubled because now I have a second out of Court I.D.

When you have an out of Court identification, particular Judge, it is one of those situations that must be disclosed to the defendant, there is no ifs and, or buts about it, it has to be disclosed.

The Court: What is the citation on the case?

Ms. Brill: I can get it, it is a Florida Supreme opinion, it came out in '85 or '86. I can get it for you, though.

The Court: Let's take a brief recess and we will take a look at it.

Mr. Bagley: Can we have a brief recess?

[Thereupon, there was a brief recess, after which the following proceedings were had.]

The Court: Taking a look here at the Bush decision and

reconsidering, I will deny the motion for mistrial.

I am not sure a Richardson Violation occurred here since all that transpired at the pretrial conference that Mr. Bagley had with showing him a photographs and telling him to look at it.

Mr. Badini: That is what we don't know, they had a duty to disclose that and he became a witness. The rules are very clear.

The Court: I can't say.

Mr. Badini: We don't become a witness unless we have proper chance to do the discovery to determine that it is to surprise you.

You have a person who did not have a positive I.D. and now you have a positive out of the Court identification.

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