FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE MAY 20 1996

CASE NO. 79,383

A COURT CLERK, SUPREA Еу ___ Chief Deputy Clerk

RONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

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

> When testimonial discrepancies appear, the witness' trial and deposition testimony can be laid side-by-side for the jury to consider. This would serve to discredit the witness and should be favorable to the defense. Therefore, unlike failure to name a witness, changed testimony does not rise to the level of a discovery violation and will not support a motion for a **Richardson** inquiry.

<u>See also Street v. State.</u> 636 So. 2d 1297, 1302 (Fla. 1994) (same). Appellant's claim herein is thus without merit. Furthermore, in light of Briggs' in-court identification of the defendant, and the latter's confessions to both the police and his friend, Tift, the

State submits that any error herein was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED UPON JURORS TAKING NOTES.

IV.

The Appellant has argued that a mistrial should have been granted, because, some jurors had been taking notes but the jury was not advised of the appropriate use of said notes in their deliberations. This claim is unpreserved and without merit, as defense counsel never requested any instructions and the notes were not utilized during any deliberations.

In the instant case, the prosecutor, on direct examination of the last State witness during the guilt phase, saw one of the jurors "possibly" taking notes,. (T. 861). The prosecutor immediately brought the matter to the trial court's attention. Id. The trial court, with defense counsel's consent, decided <u>not</u> to permit the jurors to take notes, Id. The trial court thus inquired whether any jurors had taken notes on 'any of the testimony". Id. Two jurors had done so. Id. The trial court informed the jury that, 'you are not permitted to take notes." Id. The trial court then asked the jurors who had previously taken notes to surrender same to the bailiff. (T. 861-2).

Defense counsel, 'in the abundance of caution", and to

"protect whatever [right] my client may have to this matter", then moved for a mistrial. (T. 863). There was no request by the defense for any instructions or additional inquiry as to the matter. The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. <u>Id</u>.

The next day, prior to closing arguments, the trial court, at the State's request, again inquired whether any jurors had taken any other notes which they had not surrendered to the bailiff on the previous day. (T. 883-4). None of the jurors had. Id. Again there was no request for instruction or further inquiry by the defense. Id.

The Appellant concedes that, whether jurors are allowed to take notes and use them in the deliberation process, is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. <u>Kellv v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1986); <u>Mvers v. State</u>, 499 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1986); <u>United States v. Rhodes</u>, 631 F. 2d 43 (5th Cir. 1980). Any claim of lack of adequate instruction as to the use of such notes is, moreover, unpreserved in the absence of defense counsel requesting such instructions in the court below. <u>Kelly</u>, 486 So. 2d at 583 ("We reject appellant's assertion that the jury was inadequately instructed, noting that no additional or different instructions on the matter [taking notes] were proposed by the

defense below."); <u>United States v. Rhodes</u>, 631 F.2d at 45-6. As seen above, defense counsel herein did not request or propose any instructions with respect to taking notes. The instant claim is thus unpreserved. In any event, the claim is also without merit as the record clearly reflects that the notes were surrendered prior to deliberations, and were obviously not utilized during that process. There was thus no possible prejudice to the defendant.

THE CLAIM OF IMPROPER PROSECUTORIAL COMMENT IS UNPRESERVED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The Appellant has complained of a comment made in the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument, which allegedly implied that the defendant had committed other crimes to silence witnesses. There was no objection to the prosecutor's comment in the court below, nor was there any request for mistrial. Furthermore, the prosecutor's comment herein did not imply any attempt to silence any witnesses. The comment was based upon the evidence presented and was a fair response to the defense counsel's prior closing argument. This claim is thus unpreserved and without merit. See Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 964 (Fla. 1987) (where objection to closing argument was "not specifically made to the trial court", same cannot be raised for the first time on appeal and will not be considered); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 339 (Fla. 1982) (alleged error in prosecutor's comments, which inter alia, misstated evidence, not preserved when not objected to at trial); Ferauson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1982) (defense counsel tactics will not be insulated from fair comment by the prosecution); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 367 so. 2d 616, 625 (Fla. 1979) (having invited a prosecution response, the defense will not be granted a new trial because the State 'rose to the bait'.) .

v.

In the instant case on direct examination, Witness Briggs testified that when the defendant entered the laundromat, he immediately began to fight with the victim and to hit her. (T. Briggs stated that the victim then fell to the floor. 612). The defendant got on top of her, and he pulled out a gun. (T. 618-19). Briggs testified that he then grabbed his wife, dove down to the floor and covered his wife. (T. 617). Briggs stated that he heard three or four shots, and could feel "[1]ead was hitting my foot". It should be noted that the State also presented the Id. defendant's confession, wherein he had admitted that he was 'trying to shoot my way out of there." (T. 806). Briggs did not get up from the floor until after the defendant left the laundromat. (Т. 625).

On cross-examination of Briggs, defense counsel established that when Briggs had initially seen the defendant hitting the victim, he had not intervened nor said anything to stop the defendant. (T. 632). Briggs stated he had not done anything because, "I was just shocked...". Id. Defense counsel then established that when Briggs had seen the defendant with a gun, his first concern was for the safety of his wife. (T. 634). Defense counsel also elicited that when the shots were fired, Briggs had not looked up, because, he "didn't want to get hit". (T. 634).

At closing argument, defense counsel then sought to discredit Briggs' testimony and identification of the defendant, by stating that witness Briggs had not shown any concern for the victim:

> [Briggs] was guessing, he wasn't paying that much attention, he didn't say, what are you doing, you are hitting a woman, if in fact the defendant was hitting Sugar Mama like this.

> <u>I would have thought that I would have been a</u> <u>Little bit more concerned. but he wasn't, it</u> was none of his business.

(T. 891). (emphasis added), Defense counsel continued that:

... [Briggs'] real concern was for the safety of his wife and the safety for him, that was the concern.

This fight was none of his business. not his problem, he didn 't want to be involved.

(T. 895). (emphasis added).

In response to the above comments by defense counsel, the prosecutor during his closing argument responded that Briggs' failure to help the victim was not due to a lack of concern for the latter as suggested by defense counsel, and that Briggs' taking cover to prevent harm to himself during the defendant's shoot out was reasonable:

[Briggs] said look, I went into shock, this thing happened so unexpectedly.

By the **way**, when something is happening so quickly, so unexpectedly, do you immediately jump up and run to the assistance of someone in a situation like that?

Frankly, I think Mr. Briggs is very fortunate that he did not because he may not have been here this week to testify.

(T. 913-14). There was no objection by the defense to the above comments at any time. The defense did not request any curative instructions, and did not move for a mistrial based upon the above comments either. Moreover, in light of the above related evidence and arguments by the defense, it is abundantly clear that the prosecutor, contrary to the argument now advanced by the Appellant, was not in any way suggesting that the defendant would have committed additional crimes to 'silence" witnesses. The prosecutor was merely noting that, Briggs' attempt to protect himself had been reasonable under the circumstances herein.

Appellant's reliance upon <u>Gleason v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) is unwarranted. In that case the appellate court reversed the defendant's conviction, based upon erroneous jury instructions, inadmissible hearsay, and improper closing argument. The prosecutor had made unprovoked comments, devoid of any factual basis, that defendant 'controlled witnesses". <u>Gleason</u>, 591 so. 2d at 279. The prosecutor had also speculated as to whether the defendant's actions were: "[t]o commit another felony? to commit another sexual battery? Maybe he didn't get finished off... or was he going to try to lessen the chance of detection of

the felony that had already been committed." <u>Id</u>. The comments in the instant case, as seen above, are in no way analogous to those made in <u>Glenn</u>. The unobjected to comments herein, which were based upon the evidence presented and were made in direct response to the defense closing argument, did not deprive the defendant of a fair trial, especially in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt presented in the instant case. <u>Craig</u>, <u>Ferguson</u>, <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF DEATH TO **MANY** PERSONS.

VI.

The Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously found that the defendant had knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons. This claim is without merit, as the trial court's findings were both supported by the record, and in accordance with this Court's precedents.

The above aggravating factor applies when the defendant puts at least four people, in addition to the victim, in immediate and present risk of death by firing a gun in the area or direction of said people. See, Fitzpatrick v. State, 437 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1983), habeas corpus granted on other grounds, 490 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1986) (factor upheld when defendant engaged in a gun battle with two police officers, one of whom was the murder victim, in the presence of three hostages); <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1985) (firing a gun during the course of flight, in the area of four officers, defendant's accomplices, and a migrant labor camp, constitutes a great risk of death). In the instant case, the defendant fired his gun in the direction of not only the victim, but all four other people present in the laundromat. The trial court found:

B. THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF DEATH TO MANY PERSONS.

Four people, plus Tequila Larkins, were in the laundromat when the Defendant broke in and began shooting. People were forced to hit the floor and take whatever cover was available. Sixteen bullet fragments were later found in the laundromat. In his confession, the Defendant admitted that he was at one point trying to shoot his way out. At least one witness stated that he could feel shots hitting near his feet as he lay crouched on the floor. Unquestionably, the Defendant created a great risk of death to many persons.

(R. 113).

Contrary to the Appellant's argument herein, the above findings are well supported by the record. The defendant in his confession to the instant murder, which was read to the jury during the guilt phase, acknowledged that he had tried to shoot his way out of the laundromat:

> Like the other girl, she was like in the way.¹⁴ Sugar Mama was like behind her, she was running.

I was in there like I lunge into her, right.

There was so many people.

I just got confused, and I was fitting to leave, and I guess <u>I was trvina to shoot mv</u> way out of there.

As noted previously, Eric the attendant was a transvestite and dressed up as a woman.

It got jammed, the first time, right after it just repeatedly shot, boom, boom, boom, boom.

(T. 806) (emphasis added).

Likewise, the record supports the trial court's finding that, in addition to the murder victim, Larkins, four (4) other people were present in the Laundromat at the time of the shooting: 1) Eric Bethel, the attendant; 2) Walter Hills, the victim's stepson; 3) Jerry Briggs, a customer doing laundry, and, 4) Valerie Briggs, who was Jerry Briggs' wife. (T. 630, 670, 812, 1005-6, 1008-9). The defendant had fired one bullet at the victim, from extremely close range. He had, however, fired five (5) bullets around the laundromat and in the direction of everyone of the other four (4) people, as evidenced by the bullet holes, ricochet marks, and projectile fragments recovered from the immediate vicinity of where each of said persons had been located during the shooting.

Mr. Briggs testified that he had been standing by the folding table, directly east of the front door, and tried to protect himself by diving over by the dryers. (T. 619). He had also grabbed his wife, and laid on top of her to protect her during the shooting. (T. 619, 1004-5). The attendant, Eric Bethel, had been standing by the front door. (T. 1005-6). Walter Hills testified

that he was in the back, at a video game machine, when he heard the first shot. (T. 1007). He 'ducked down" by the washing machines. Id. A couple of bullet holes were found in the lower side of the dryers. (T. 699). Two projectile ricochet marks were found in the floor of the laundromat, tearing off some tile. (T. 700). The sixteen projectile fragments, weighing more than 800 grams, were recovered from: a) next to the video game machine, against the back wall of the laundromat, b) next to the wall near the office, and just outside of the office, c) underneath the folding table, which is located directly east and within a couple of feet of the front door, and, d) on top of the washers. (T. 693-99). One of the victims testified that he could feel 'lead was hitting on my foot", as the shots were being fired. (T. 619).

The findings of the trial court herein are thus well supported by the record and in accordance with the precedents from this Court. <u>Fitzpatrick, supra; Suarez, supra</u>. The defendant's reliance upon <u>Kampff v. State</u>, 371 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1979), <u>White v. State</u>, 403 so. 2d 331 (Fla. 1980), <u>Bello v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 914 (Fla. 1989), <u>Alvin v. State</u>, 548 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1989), and Lucas v. <u>State</u>, 490 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1986), is unwarranted. None of said cases involved a situation such as the instant case, where there was immediate risk of harm to the murder victim, in addition to

more than three (3) other people. See, Kampff, supra (the defendant shot his wife in the presence of two other people); White, supra (the victims had each been shot at close range in the back of the head, and only two other people had been present on the premises; no shots had been fired at the direction of the latter two people); Diaz, supra (the defendant had fired a single shot in the air, towards the ceiling, and over the head of one person); Bello, 547 So. 2d at 917 (the defendant's actions, "created a high probability of death to at most only three people besides the victim." The remaining people considered by the trial court to have been put at risk were too far away, separated by several walls, or out of the line of fire.); Alvin, supra (a total of four (4) people, including the murder victim, were present in the vicinity of the shooting and in the line of fire); Lucas, supra (gun battle involved only the victim and two of her friends).

Assuming, arguendo, that the aggravator herein was erroneously found, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial judge in the instant case found four (4) other aggravating factors, including a prior murder for hire plot, which had occurred only six (6) days prior to the instant homicide, where the victim had miraculously survived, although he had been repeatedly shot. The trial judge specifically stated that the minimal good-person

mitigation was "outweighed to the point of obliteration by the aggravating circumstances." (R. 117). Any error was thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Conev v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1015 (Fla.1995) ("there is no reasonable possibility this error [finding great risk of death] affected the death sentence where four strong aggravating factors remain and the court specifically stated in its sentencing order that 'there are more than sufficient aggravating the imposition of the death penalty.' The error was harmless.").

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the judgments of conviction and sentences should be affirmed.